2011

Metropolitan Water District of Salt Lake and Sandy v. Zdenek Sorf : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Defendant/Appellant filed his notice of appeal on May 16, 2011. An Amended Notice of Appeal was filed on May 17, 2011. The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the district court err in denying Appellant's Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment? (R. 353-355.)
2. Did the district court err in denying Appellant's Rule 13(d) Motion for Leave to File a Counterclaim? (R. 548-550.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue #1: A trial court's ruling on a motion to set aside a default judgment involves the trial court's discretionary power and will be overturned only if it has abused its discretion. *See Davis v. Goldsworthy*, 2008 UT App. 145, ¶ 10, 184 P.3d 626.

Issue #2: A trial court's ruling on a motion for leave to file a counterclaim is a question of law. Questions of law are reviewed for correctness with no deference given to the trial court. *State v. Harmon*, 910 P.2d 1196, 1199 (Utah 1995).

DETERMINATIVE RULES

Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b) is determinative of the first issue. Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 13 is determinative of the second issue. These rules are set out in the addendum.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter concerns an easement over the property of Appellant, Zdenek Sorf, and the ordered removal of landscaping, rock retaining walls, a gazebo, hot tub, buildings, trees and a water feature following a default judgment. The easement relates to the Salt Lake Aqueduct owned and operated by the Appellee, Metropolitan Water District of Salt Lake & Sandy ("District"). The claimed easement was granted to the District in 1946 for the purpose of operating and maintaining the Salt Lake Aqueduct pipeline. In 1952, the easement was transferred to the United States Department of Interior. In 2006, the easement was conveyed back to the District. Since receiving the easement back, the District has dramatically expanded the scope of the easement through rules and regulations imposed by it that limit and restrict property owners. The rules and regulations were not mentioned in, nor were they part of the original easement. The claimed easement is 120 feet wide and runs through a large majority of Mr. Sorf's backyard and even included a corner of his house. Shortly after this appeal was initiated, the District suddenly abandoned the portion of the easement that includes Mr. Sorf's home. (Ex. B of Supplemental Record, accepted by the Court on 10/28/11.) The remaining easement area now begins immediately outside Mr. Sorf's backdoor and covers most of his backyard.

In October 2010, a complaint was filed seeking a determination of the District's rights and authority to Mr. Sorf's property. Specifically, but not exclusively, the District sought a determination as to the enforcement of multiple rules and regulations that were adopted by the District more than 58 years after the initial granting of the easement. (R.

5.) A Summons and Complaint was left at Mr. Sorf's home, but not personally served on him. At the same time frame, Mr. Sorf received a letter from the District soliciting contact and resolution to the dispute. Mr. Sorf contacted the District to try and facilitate a resolution. He did not understand he had been sued or that he was required to answer. Due to his mistaken understanding, a default judgment was entered against Mr. Sorf on December 16, 2010. (R. 97.) The default judgment requires Mr. Sorf to remove all structures, trees, a water feature, a hot tub, a gazebo, rock retaining walls and other landscaping (which Mr. Sorf paid more than \$150,000 to install). (R. 97-99.) In January 2011, Mr. Sorf retained counsel and initiated efforts to set aside the default judgment. On February 3, 2011, Mr. Sorf filed a proposed Answer to the District's Complaint and asserted multiple meritorious defenses. (R. 125-134.) On March 17, 2011, Mr. Sorf's Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment was denied. (R. 353-354.) The District argues Mr. Sorf should have recognized that a complaint had been filed. However, he was mistaken and it would be fundamentally unfair to allow Mr. Sorf's mistaken understanding to lead to the dramatic and costly implications imposed by the default judgment. Mr. Sorf should not be deprived of all useful purpose of his backyard, forced to remove hundreds of thousands of dollars of landscaping, and suffer a significant loss in value of his home without the District's claims being determined on the merits.

Entry of the default judgment resulted in a final determination of the District's rights and authorities over Mr. Sorf's property. The terms of the default judgment constitute a taking. In light of the taking that occurred, Mr. Sorf filed a Rule 13(d) Motion for Leave to file a counterclaim against the District for inverse condemnation.

(R. 374.) Mr. Sorf's claim for inverse condemnation was not acquired until after the default judgment was finalized. The District's rights to Mr. Sorf's property had to be defined before one could determine if a taking had occurred. On May 9, 2011 Mr. Sorf's Rule 13(d) Motion for Leave to file a counterclaim was denied. (R. 527.) Mr. Sorf's claims for inverse condemnation did not mature until after the default was finalized with denial of the Motion to Set Aside. Mr. Sorf should not be stripped of his recognized and bona-fide claims for inverse condemnation just because default was entered on earlier issues. To preclude Mr. Sorf from pursuing his claims for inverse condemnation would be an additional penalty arising from the default. Fundamental justice does not allow such punishment. Mr. Sorf should be given the opportunity to assert claims for inverse condemnation against the District.

STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS

Salt Lake Aqueduct

1. On February 4, 1946, Elizabeth Colemere conveyed and warranted to the District "a perpetual easement to construct, reconstruct, operate and maintain a pipeline or pipelines on, over and across [specifically] described property in Salt Lake County, State of Utah" (which is now the appellant's property). The original warranty deed was a simple two page document that did not include any regulations, restrictions or limitations as to use of property. (R. 39-40.)

2. On August 22, 1952, a Warranty Deed of Easement was entered between the District and the United States of America. The District conveyed to the United States Department of Interior a "perpetual easement to construct and reconstruct, operate and

maintain an underground pipeline and appurtenant structures, which latter may be situated above ground surface, on, over or across [specifically] described property situated in Salt Lake County, State of Utah.” When the easement was conveyed to the United States, it did not include any restrictions or limitations as to use of property. (R. 48-49.)

3. During the time the easement was held by the United States Department of Interior, individuals were not restricted from building significant and costly improvements on the easement area including, but not limited to, homes, swimming pools, tennis courts, etc. (Hearing Transcript at pp. 5-8, starting at R. 556.)

4. On October 2, 2006, the United States Department of Interior, through a quitclaim deed, conveyed all interests in the SLA to the District. When the easement was deeded back to the District, it did not include any restrictions or limitations as to use of property. (R. 43-47.)

5. Since receiving the easement back, the District has adopted rules and regulations expanding the easement and significantly limiting how property owners can and cannot use property within the easement area. The scope of the restrictions is left to the unilateral discretion of the District. The restrictions were not included in the original easement, the conveyance to the United States, or the return of the easement to the District. The restrictions were created unilaterally by the District more than 58 years after the easement was originally granted. (R. 417-428.)

Mr. Sorf's Residence

6. Mr. Sorf lives at 9625 South Mount Jordan Road (2250 East) in Sandy, Utah. (R. 10 at ¶ 27.) He has resided in his residence for nearly 24 years. The SLA easement covers the majority of Mr. Sorf's backyard and even extended into the southeast corner of his house. (R. 430-432.) After this appeal was initiated, the District abandoned the portion of the easement that included Mr. Sorf's house. The easement still in effect begins immediately outside of Mr. Sorf's backdoor. (Ex. B of Supplemental Record, accepted by the Court on 10/28/11.)

7. Several large trees, rocks and brush were located on the SLA easement in Mr. Sorf's backyard before Mr. Sorf bought his property in 1988. (R. 434 at ¶ 4.) Two of the trees were at least 60 feet tall. (R. 435 at ¶ 5.) (*See also* Ex. 9 & 10 of Ex. A of Supplemental Record, accepted by the Court on 10/28/11, showing the large size of the tree, stump and roots associated with one of the removed trees.)

8. A small shed was also located on the easement prior to the time Mr. Sorf purchased his home. (R. 435 at ¶ 6.)

9. For at least twenty years after Mr. Sorf purchased his home, no one ever expressed any concern with the trees, rocks, patio, brush and shed being located on the SLA easement. (R. 435 at ¶ 8.)

10. During the nearly twenty-three years Mr. Sorf has lived in his neighborhood, he has observed and continues to observe concrete pads, driveways, large trees, cinder block walls, rock walls, sheds, and other structures and objects over the SLA easement in his neighbors' property. (R. 435 at ¶ 9, Ex. F; *see also* picture of large tree,

driveway and other large objects over the SLA easement across the street from Mr. Sorf's property, R. 444; picture of a stake, placed by District, in front of the cinderblock wall identifying the western edge of the easement and demonstrating that Mr. Sorf's neighbor has large trees over the easement, R. 446; picture of a stake, placed by District, identifying the western edge of the easement and demonstrating that approximately 5 to 6 feet of Mr. Sorf's neighbor's house and foundation are on the SLA easement, R. 448; and Ex. 7 & 8 of Ex. A of Supplemental Record, accepted by the Court on 10/28/11.)

11. In approximately March 2009, Mr. Sorf began improving his backyard. (R. 436 at ¶ 12.)

12. Mr. Sorf removed the large trees, rocks and brush from the easement and graded the dirt but did not bring new dirt onto the property. (R. 436 at ¶ 13, Ex. F; *see also* picture of the tree stump from one of the trees Mr. Sorf removed, and where the gazebo and hot tub are now located, R. 450.)

13. Based upon instruction that was given by the District's representatives, Mr. Sorf purposely did not place any structures directly over the pipeline. (R. 436 at ¶ 14.)

14. The small storage shed that is on the SLA easement existed prior to the time Mr. Sorf purchased the property and is approximately twenty-six (26) feet from the pipeline. (R. 436 at ¶ 16.)

15. Mr. Sorf placed a hot tub in the spot where he tore out one of the large trees. (R. 436 at ¶ 17; Ex. 9 of Ex. A of Supplemental Record, accepted by the Court on 10/28/11.)

16. Mr. Sorf's hot tub and gazebo are located approximately forty-eight (48) feet from the pipeline. (R. 436 at ¶ 18.)

17. The garden boxes for vegetables are located approximately thirty-one (31) feet from the pipeline and the water feature is approximately twenty-three (23) feet from the pipeline. (R. 436 at ¶ 20; Ex. 1 & Ex. 6 of Ex. A of Supplement Record, accepted by the Court on 10/28/11.)

18. The second shed on Mr. Sorf's property is located approximately forty-four (44) feet from the pipeline. (R. 436 at ¶ 21; Ex. 1 of Ex. A of Supplemental Record, accepted by the Court on 10/28/11.)

19. In November 2009, one of the District's employees visited Mr. Sorf at his property. Mr. Sorf believes the employee's name was Lynn Coon. (R. 437 at ¶ 22.) By that time, a majority of Mr. Sorf's landscaping was finished, except for a few items such as the rock sidewalk, grass, roof on the gazebo, fencing and a concrete pad in front of the second shed. (R. 437 at ¶ 23.)

20. Mr. Coon did not instruct Mr. Sorf to cease landscaping nor did he explain that Mr. Sorf needed permission from the District to continue. (R. 437 at ¶ 24.) Instead, Mr. Coon told Mr. Sorf that the landscaping should not interfere with the pipeline and suggested that Mr. Sorf submit an application to the District indicating that he had improved the property for the purpose of updating their records. (R. 437 at ¶ 25.)

21. Mr. Coon showed Mr. Sorf where he thought the easement boundaries on the property were and instructed Mr. Sorf that he should not build or place any structures directly over where the pipeline was located. (R. 437 at ¶ 26.)

22. Mr. Sorf would have immediately stopped landscaping had Mr. Coon instructed him to cease activities or if he had told Mr. Sorf he was interfering with the SLA pipeline. (R. 437 at ¶ 30.)

23. The District placed a stop work order sign on Mr. Sorf's property after improvements to the backyard were nearly complete. (Hearing Transcript at pp. 14 & 15, starting at R. 556.)

24. A tall cinder block wall with three foot foundations existed on the north side of Mr. Sorf's property prior to the time he purchased his home approximately 23 years ago. (R. 438 at ¶ 37.)

25. The cinder block wall did not contain a gate or otherwise permit access to that portion of the SLA easement on Mr. Sorf's property. (R. 438 at ¶ 38.)

26. Mr. Sorf tore down the tall cinder block wall and its three foot foundations and installed a wood fence in its place. (R. 438 at ¶ 39.) After removing the cinder block wall, the district requested Mr. Sorf to install a gate in the wood fence. This was the first time in over 24 years that the District showed any interest in the activities being conducted on or having access to Mr. Sorf's property. (Hearing Transcript at p. 6, starting at R. 556.)

27. In compliance with the District's request, Mr. Sorf installed an access gate on the north side to allow the District access to the portion of the SLA easement on his property. (R. 438 at ¶ 40.)

28. Since the time Mr. Sorf has lived in his home, he has never observed anyone performing any routine inspections of the portion of easement which crosses his property until he tore down the cinder block wall. (R. 439 at ¶ 43.)

Complaint

29. The District filed a Complaint in this matter on October 28, 2010. (R. 5.)

30. The District asked the Court to approve its rights and authorities in relation to the SLA corridor and Mr. Sorf's property, including the imposition of pages and pages of rules and regulations that were not part of the original easement. The District requested an order from the Court declaring its property rights and regulatory authority, declaring its rights and powers to remove Mr. Sorf's improvements, and quieting the District's title. (R. 16 at ¶ 61.)

31. The District sought the following relief:

Wherefore, [the District] requests an order and judgment as follows:

- A. Enjoining Defendant from interfering with [the District's] restoration of the SLA corridor; and
- B. Enjoining Defendant from any future trespass upon [the District's] property interests or violations of [District] regulations; and
- C. Declaring [the District's] property rights; and
- D. Declaring [the District's] regulatory authority; and
- E. Declaring [the District's] right and power to remove Defendant's improvements which infringe [District] property rights, or which violate [District] regulations; and
- F. Quieting [District's] title; and

- G. For damages suffered by [District] due to Defendant's actions, including costs to be incurred in restoring the SLA corridor, together with interest; and
- H. For costs incurred by [District] in this action; and
- I. For such other relief this Court deems appropriate and just.

(R. 17-18.)

32. On October 28, 2010, a Summons and Complaint were delivered to Mr. Sorf's residence. However, he was not home. A female at the residence was unwilling to accept the papers. (R. 79.)

33. Mr. Sorf received a letter from the District's counsel asserting that a complaint and summons were enclosed, but he did not have the actual enclosures. (R. 114 at ¶ 3; R. 115 at ¶ 4.)

34. The letter indicated that the District was willing to discuss an amicable resolution of the matter. (R. 114 at ¶ 5 & R. 118.) Based on the letter, Mr. Sorf believed that the District would refrain from filing a lawsuit if the parties were able to reach an amicable resolution of the dispute. (R. 115 at ¶ 6.)

35. Later in November, Mr. Sorf called the District's counsel to discuss resolution. (R. 115 at ¶ 7.) During the telephone conversation, the District's counsel did not inform Mr. Sorf that he needed to file an Answer. (R. 115 at ¶ 9.)

36. After discussions with the District's counsel, Mr. Sorf was under the impression that the District would only pursue court action if Mr. Sorf could not reach a settlement with the District. (R. 115 at ¶ 8.)

37. The District's counsel instructed Mr. Sorf to call and speak with the District directly to discuss resolution. (R. 115 at ¶ 10.) Specifically, Mr. Sorf was instructed to call Wayne Vinzer and Mike Wilson. (R. 115 at ¶ 11.)

38. Mr. Sorf telephoned both Mr. Vinzer and Mr. Wilson but was unable to reach them. (R. 115 at ¶ 11.)

Default Judgment

39. Without a hearing on the merits, a default judgment was entered against Mr. Sorf on December 13, 2010. The default judgment ordered in part as follows:

- a. Defendant shall remove all encroachments not authorized by [the District] including, but not limited to, rock retaining walls, added fill material, gazebo, hot tub, two (2) outbuildings, trees, and water features.
- b. Defendant shall return adequate soils and fill (2' to 3' in depth) on the south portion of Defendant's Property traversed by the SLA.

* * * *

- f. Defendant will immediately remove all impediments to access to [sic] the SLA corridor by [the District] and its contractor(s). This will be accomplished by installing (at a minimum) access gates with openings not less than 12 feet in width on the north and south property lines. If Defendant desires to have a lock on the gate, he shall make arrangements acceptable to [the District] for locks in series and allow [the District] to place their own lock, such that [the District] has access to the SLA corridor at all times.

(R. 97-99.)

40. If Mr. Sorf does not fully abide by the terms of the default judgment, the District may remove the described encroachments and seek costs from Mr. Sorf.

If Defendant fails to fully comply with Paragraph 1 immediately above, [the District] or [the District's] contractor, may move and remove all

described encroaching improvements, and Defendant is hereby enjoined from interfering with such work. [The District] may seek additional judgment or judgments for any costs incurred as a result of Defendant's failure to fully comply with paragraph 1 above.

(R. 99.)

41. While not mentioned in the District's complaint, the default judgment orders Mr. Sorf to enter a Cooperation Agreement. (R. 97-99.) The Cooperation Agreement is the District's unilateral decision as to what they will and will not allow on the land within the easement area. By demanding Mr. Sorf to enter a Cooperation Agreement, the trial court in essence approved the extensive rules and regulations imposed by the District nearly 60 years after the granting of the easement. (R. 460-470.)

Proposed Cooperation Agreement

42. With regard to Mr. Sorf's use of the SLA Corridor, the Cooperation Agreement provides:¹

The southeast corner of [Mr. Sorf's] home encroaches approximately 4.3 feet onto the SLA corridor, as shown in Exhibit A. In addition and as depicted in Exhibit A, other improvements exist including, but not limited to, earthwork (added fill material), turf areas, rock retaining walls (for landscaping), fencing and access gates, flat work (concrete and rock pathways), garden boxes, an electrical utility line, a motorcycle barn, an equipment shed, a gazebo and hot tub, deck, water feature, and trees within the SLA corridor without prior approval from the District. All improvements not expressly approved by this agreement shall be removed at owner's expense no later than August 30, 2011. Additional improvements shall not be constructed within the easement without first receiving written permission from the District.

¹ On June 28, 2011, after this appeal had been initiated, the District entered a "Notice of Partial Abandonment of Easement" whereby it abandoned the portion of the easement which is encumbered by Mr. Sorf's existing home. This abandonment does not significantly change the matters on appeal. Even with the abandonment, the easement still being claimed by the District exists immediately outside of Mr. Sorf's backdoor and covers the majority of his backyard. (See Ex. B of Supplemental Record, accepted by the Court on 10/28/11.)

[Mr. Sorf's] use of the SLA corridor shall be limited to the following as shown on Exhibit A: earthwork (added fill material), turf areas, a rock retaining wall (for landscaping), the existing fences with three access gates, flat work (concrete and rock pathways), garden boxes, and an electrical utility crossing. The existing fences shall be modified to include access gates within the easement to provide District access.

(R. 461.)

43. The Cooperation Agreement is only good for five (5) years and has a maximum duration of fifteen (15) years. Renewal of the agreement is not guaranteed.

(R. 461.)

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