2011

# Metropolitan Water District of Salt Lake and Sandy v. Zdenek Sorf : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

---

<sup>7</sup> Essentially, Sorf is making an Equal Protection Clause “class of one” claim without formally declaring it as such. The federal courts have described such claims as follows:

In the paradigmatic class-of-one case, a public official inflicts a cost or burden on one person without imposing it on those who are similarly situated in material respects, and does so without any conceivable basis other than a wholly illegitimate motive. . . . The paradigmatic “class of one” case, more sensibly conceived, is one in which a public official, with no conceivable basis for his action other than spite or some other improper motive (improper because unrelated to his public duties), comes down hard on a hapless private citizen.

Highland Dev. Inc. v. Duchesne County, 505 F. Supp. 2d 1129, 1150 (D. Utah, 2007) (quoting Jicarilla Apache Nation v. Rio Arriba County, 440 F.3d 1202, 1209 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2006)). To establish a “class of one” Equal Protection claim, Sorf would have to show two elements: (1) that MWDSLS intentionally treated him differently from others similarly situated; and (2) “that the official action was *objectively* irrational and abusive.” *Id.* (internal quotation omitted) (emphasis in original). “[W]hen the class consists of one person or entity, it is *exceedingly difficult* to demonstrate that any difference in treatment is not attributable to a quirk of the plaintiff or even to the fallibility of administrators whose inconsistency is as random as it is inevitable.” Jicarilla, 440 F.3d at 1212-13 (emphasis added).

If this Court found Sorf's equitable estoppel arguments meritorious, it would represent an unprecedented expansion of the narrow exception upon which Sorf relies.

Although our courts have never required that the governmental statement be written, our supreme court has observed that “[t]he few cases in which Utah courts have permitted estoppel against the government have involved very specific written representations by authorized government entities.” Anderson v. Public Serv. Comm’n, 839 P.2d 822, 827 (Utah 1992). In both Celebrity Club, Inc. v. Utah Liquor Control Commission, 602 P.2d 689 (Utah 1979), and Eldredge v. Utah State Retirement Board, 795 P.2d 671 (Utah Ct.App.1990), Utah appellate courts applied equitable estoppel against government entities based on “very clear, well-substantiated representations by government entities.” Anderson, 839 P.2d at 828 (discussing Celebrity Club and Eldredge).

McLeod v. Retirement Bd., 2011 Utah App. 190, ¶ 22, 257 P.3d 1090. In McLeod, the plaintiff claimed he detrimentally relied on three different telephone conversations with government employees. Those conversations were corroborated, the plaintiff claimed, by documents later mailed to him and posted on a government website. Id. at ¶¶ 23-24. Neither the conversations nor the subsequent written corroboration justified an equitable estoppel claim against the government entity because “in our view, they fall short of ‘very clear, well-substantiated representations by government entities.’” Id. (quoting Anderson v. Public Serv. Comm’n, 839 P.2d 822, 828 (Utah 1992)). Sorf's equitable estoppel defense is based on similar alleged verbal statements, but lacks any of the documentary corroboration that was asserted in McLeod. Even if properly raised on appeal, Sorf's uninformed assumption that MWDSLs was not enforcing the SLA easement around his neighborhood would also obviously “fall short of ‘very clear, well-substantiated representations by government entities.’” McLeod, 2011 Utah App. 190, ¶

Finally, government employees cannot bind the governmental entity to commitments or conveyances that would divest assets held in trust for the public without approval of the legislative body or receipt of fair market value compensation. *See, e.g., Sears v. Ogden*, 533 P.2d 118, 119 (Utah 1975); *Salt Lake Co. Comm. v. Salt Lake Co. Attny.* 1999 UT 73, ¶ 31, 985 P.2d 899 (Utah 1999); *Price Dev. Co. v. Orem City*, 2000 UT 26, ¶ 26, 995 P.2d 1237. The SLA and the SLA corridor are MWDSLS assets held in trust for the public. As a matter of law, MWDSLS staff's alleged comments to Sorf do not support his equitable estoppel defense.

## II. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DENIED SORF'S MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE A COUNTERCLAIM.

Sorf's Motion for Leave to File a Counterclaim was properly denied for five distinct reasons. First, his argument that his counterclaim did not ripen until after the court had denied his Motion to Set Aside is not supported by logic or Utah law. Second, his Motion for Leave was doomed because MWDSLS's actions did not constitute a regulatory taking. Finally, three distinct procedural flaws justified the district court's denial of Sorf's motion.

### A. Sorf's Cause of Action Accrued When MWDSLS Expressly Demanded that Sorf Comply With the SLA Easement and its Regulations—Not When the Judgment Was Entered.

Sorf argues that MWDSLS's pre-litigation demands that he stop all encroaching landscaping did not ripen his counterclaim. Instead, he claims, it ripened only when there was a court judgment ratifying MWDSLS's attempts to enforce the SLA easement and regulations. A cause of action for a regulatory taking accrues when a government entity

seeks to apply the regulations to the landowner's detriment. See *Gillmor v. Summit*

*County*, 2010 UT 69, 246 P.3d 102. As the Court in *Gillmor* explained:

[O]nce an allegedly unconstitutional zoning ordinance is applied to a land owner to prevent her from using or developing her property in a beneficial way, she has suffered an injury, her cause of action accrues, and she may seek redress by bringing a timely challenge to the application of the ordinance to her in a district court action . . . .

2010 UT 69, ¶ 33. Thus, Sorf's regulatory taking claim ripened when MWDSLs took action to enforce its regulatory rights under the easement.<sup>8</sup>

Like Sorf, the appellee in *National Advertising v. Murray City* argued "that only after receiving final confirmation [from the court] that their permit was valid were they able to pursue a counterclaim for breach of contract." 2006 UT App. 75, ¶ 9, 131 P.3d 872. The Court disagreed:

We note that the Crawfords' contention that they could not file their claim for breach of contract and damages until the court found their permit to be

---

<sup>8</sup> Sorf's attack on the regulations does not seem to be limited in how the regulations were applied to him. To the contrary, he seems to mount a facial challenge to the regulations, arguing that they simply go beyond the scope of SLA easement language:

The SLA easement does not prohibit Mr. Sorf, *or any other landowner*, from installing improvements nor does it authorize the District to compel the removal of improvements. As such, it is Mr. Sorf's position that the authority granted through the default judgment [based on the regulations] dramatically exceeds the express language of the easement.

(Appellant's Brief at 31 (emphasis added.)) The law is clear that a claim for a facial regulatory taking accrues when the regulations are promulgated:

A facial challenge to a land use regulation becomes ripe upon the enactment of the regulation itself. . . . [T]his *limited* rule was meant to apply *only* to facial challenges to regulatory takings where the injury to the plaintiff is said to occur at the moment the ordinance is enacted and the plaintiff's property value is "taken."

*Gillmor*, 2010 UT 69 at ¶ 31 (internal quotation omitted) (emphasis in original).

valid makes little sense. The Crawfords could have filed their claim as part of their original complaint and simply requested that the trial court bifurcate the proceedings. Such action would have eliminated the present procedural morass.

*Id.* at ¶ 26, n. 18. Sorf's argument that he had to wait until *after* the district court issued a final judgment confirming MWDSLS's regulatory rights is wrong.

Sorf's claim for inverse condemnation matured when MWDSLS sought to enforce the SLA easement regulations against him. MWDSLS told Sorf to stop work on his backyard landscaping—which, according to Sorf, cost him “nearly \$150,000”—in August 2010. (Sorf's Mem. in Sup't of Motion for Leave to File Counterclaim, citing Declaration of Zdenek Sorf at ¶ 44 (R. 385.)) While MWDSLS had diligently communicated with Sorf and sought to enforce the regulations long before then (*see* Verified Complaint at ¶¶ 30-48 (R. 11-14)), Sorf has admitted that MWDSLS clearly sought to enforce the regulations against him no later than August 2010. In fact, a photograph depicting the stop work order, dated August 31, 2010, is attached as Addendum 14 to this brief. (Exhibit 9 to MWDSLS's Verified Complaint (R. 67.)) Thus, by Sorf's own admission, MWDSLS enforced the SLA easement regulations against him approximately two months before MWDSLS even filed suit against him. MWDSLS's Verified Complaint was the culmination of this enforcement. It was based on the terms of the SLA easement and the appurtenant regulations, and demanded the removal of landscaping and structures, as well as the entry of a Cooperation Agreement to define the rights and obligations of the parties. There can be no doubt that

MWDSLS's Verified Complaint itself was the final articulation of MWDSLS's easement rights and the application of its regulations to Sorf's property.

Sorf's own proposed Counterclaim acknowledges that MWDSLS sought to impose the SLA easement restrictions and regulations upon Sorf prior to the entry of the Default Judgment. (*See* Counterclaim (Proposed) (R. 479 at ¶¶ 36-40) (attached as Add. 13.)) This should be obvious—without Sorf's violation of those restrictions and regulations, MWDSLS would have had no need to file the Complaint in the first place. Nonetheless, Sorf's allegations in the proposed Counterclaim tellingly blame not just the Default Judgment for his alleged inverse condemnation, but also (i.e., separately) MWDSLS's imposition of the restrictions and regulations on him. (*See id.* (R. 479.)) Sorf alleges that MWDSLS's restrictions and regulations “eliminated any economically viable use of his property,” and, most importantly, that they were an “addition[al]” cause of the default judgment. (R. 479 at ¶¶ 36-40 (emphasis added.)) He complains that an inverse condemnation has occurred “through the default judgment and the restrictions *and* regulations being imposed on Mr. Sorf's property, the character of the governmental actions, the economic impact of these actions on Mr. Sorf, and the extent to which the regulatory actions have interfered with Mr. Sorf's use and enjoyment of his property.” (R. 479-480 at ¶ 39 (emphasis added)). Thus, Sorf has acknowledged that his inverse condemnation counterclaim claim arose not merely from the default judgment, but also from (1) the “restrictions and regulations” imposed on Sorf, and (2) the “character of the governmental actions.” These “restrictions and regulations” and “governmental actions”

all occurred before the court below entered the Default Judgment against Sorf, and indeed before MWDSLs even filed suit.

Even if a judgment was needed for Sorf's inverse condemnation claim to mature, such a judgment existed as of December 13, 2010, when the district court entered the Default Judgment. (R. 99.) Nothing prevented Sorf from filing a proposed counterclaim with his Motion to Set Aside on January 28, 2011, but he filed no counterclaim at that time. (R. 104-112.) Nothing prevented Sorf from filing a proposed counterclaim along with his "[Proposed] Answer" on February 3, 2011, but he filed no counterclaim at that time either. (R. 122-134.) He did not try to file his counterclaim until April 14, 2011, a full four months after judgment was entered. (R. 374.)

Sorf's position is that "there was no taking . . . until the Default Judgment was finalized." (Appellant's Brief at 35.) Sorf uses the word "finalized" not because it is found anywhere in Rule 13(d), but because it implies that he was correct to wait until after MWDSLs Court denied his Motion to Set Aside to try and file his counterclaim. If attempts to undo a valid judgment prevent it from being "finalized," then Sorf's counterclaim is not ripe even to this day. "A Utah State court judgment is not final while an appeal is pending or until the time to appeal has expired." Chavez v. Morris, 566 F. Supp. 359, 360 (citing Young v. Hansen, 218 P.2d 674, 675 (Utah 1950)) (holding that "a judgment is not final pending appeal."). Thus by Sorf's reasoning, there is no taking, and his counterclaim is not ripe, until this Court affirms the denial of his motion to set aside the Default Judgment. This absurd result is the logical consequence of crediting Sorf's argument that he could not file his counterclaim until the Default was "finalized."

Sorf asserts that “multiple courts outside of Utah” have “consistently” supported his position, but cites only two cases from Colorado to support this assertion.

(Appellant’s Brief at 40-41.) The first case Sorf cites, *Droste v. Board of County Commissioners*, does not actually support his argument. As quoted by Sorf:

A taking claim is ripe if the government entity charged with implementing the regulations has reached a final decision regarding the application of the regulations to the property at issue, and determination whether a taking has occurred cannot be made until a court knows the extent of permitted development on the land in question.

85 P3d 585, 591 (Colo. App. 2003) (internal citations and quotations omitted). Here, MWDSLs did reach a “final decision regarding the application of the regulations to the property at issue,” and MWDSLs’s regulations for the SLA easement quite clearly delineate “the extent of permitted development on the land in question.” *Id.* The *Droste* appellants argued that the decision of a particular Colorado board of commissioners, which statutorily charged with deciding whether a taking had occurred, was unconstitutional. *Id.* at 590. However, at the same time the appellants were asking the Colorado Court of Appeals to decide that issue, a case was still pending in the trial court. *Id.* at 591. That is why the constitutional takings issue was not yet ripe for decision. *Id.*

The case of *Williams v. City of Central* is likewise inapposite. There, the property owner alleged that a temporary moratorium on gambling activities effected a regulatory taking of his property. However, the moratorium lasted only ten months, and the property owner was never denied a permit to conduct any economically viable activity on his property. That is why the court found that “his claim for inverse condemnation, to the

extent that it is based on a permanent regulatory taking, is not ripe for review.” 907 P.2d 701, 708 (Colo. App. 1995).

Sorf emphasizes a statement quoted in *Williams* that a “court cannot determine whether a regulation has ‘gone too far’ unless it knows how far the regulation goes.” *Reale Investments, Inc. v. City of Colorado Springs*, 856 P.2d 91 (Colo. App. 1993). But Sorf does not quote the next sentence in the *Reale* decision: “That effect cannot be measured until a final decision is made as to how the regulations will be applied to the property in question.” *Id.* A review of *Reale* quickly reveals that the court was not referring to itself with this passive-voice statement. Instead the court meant that the government entity’s actions—not a court judgment—were needed to ripen the inverse condemnation claim. *See id.* at 93-94.

In *Reale*, a developer had petitioned a city council for a change to the zoning ordinance governing his property. After the city council indicated it was not inclined to grant his rezoning request, he withdrew the request. *Id.* at 93. Because an inverse condemnation claim is “not ripe until the government entity charged with implementing the regulations has reached a final decision regarding the application of the regulations to the property at issue,” the court found that the property owner’s inverse condemnation claim was not ripe. *Id.* at 94 (“Here, because Reale withdrew its zoning request, there has been no final decision.”).

In summary, the Colorado cases Sorf cites simply do not support the proposition that Sorf’s inverse condemnation claim did not ripen until the district court denied his motion to set aside the Default Judgment. To the contrary, they show that what is needed

is concrete action by a governmental entity to regulate the property owner's land in such a way as to deprive all useful benefit of it. All of the regulatory actions upon which Sorf would assert his claim for inverse condemnation had already occurred before MWDSLS ever filed its Verified Complaint. The district court therefore properly denied his Motion for Leave to File a Counterclaim.

**B. MWDSLS's Actions Do Not Give Rise to a Regulatory Taking Claim.**

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